THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

 ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM LEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

George C. James Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

CASE No: 2010-CP-31-0052
Appeal No: 2014-001349

MAR 31 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Mr. Unula Boo-shawn Abebe #285447 Petitioner

vs.

State of South Carolina Respondent

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Mr. Unula B. Abebe #285447
MCI/SMU # A-101
386 Redemption Way
McCormick S.C. 29899
Pro se Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:
Daniel Francis Gourley II
Assistant Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia S.C. 29211
Counsel for Respondent

1 EIGHT WRIT

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Solicitor violate current Brady laws by not disclosing any favorable evidence to the accused?
2. Can a Brady claim be raised on direct appeal if it was not preserved for review by the appellate court?
3. Can a Brady, Selective Prosecution and Prosecutorial Misconduct not preserved for appellate review via direct appeal be raised in a P.C.R.?
4. Did the state commit the act of Selective Prosecution?
5. Did the Solicitor Commit Prosecutorial Misconduct?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner was indicted by the Lee County grand jury for the offense of Assault upon a Correctional Employee. He appeared on April 1st 2009 for trial before Judge Howard P. King. Petitioner was pro se at trial and remained pro se in this matter. Mr. Paul Fata was the trial Solicitor.

The Petitioner filed a Application for Post Conviction Relief March 2010. The application raised three issues: Brady violation, Prosecutorial Misconduct and Selective Prosecution.

The application was heard on February 25 2014 by Judge George C. James Jr. and dismissed on April 17 2014. A motion to alter, Amend and Reconsidered was filed but also denied on May 16 2014. Assistant Attorney Gen. Daniel Courley represented the State.

ARGUMENT

Question: #1: Did the Solicitor violate current Brady laws by not disclosing any favorable evidence?

Yes, the Solicitor did violate current Brady laws by not disclosing any favorable evidence. In United States v. Bagley 105 S.Ct. 3375 (1985) the Bagley court held that regardless of request, favorable evidence is material and constitutional error results from its suppression by the government "if there is a reasonable probability that had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the results of the proceeding would have been different" 105 S.Ct. at 3383.

The Supreme Court in Kyles vs. Whitley 115 S.Ct. 1555, 1566 (1995) stated that Bagley's touchstone of materiality is a "reasonable probability" of a different result and the adjective is important. The question is not whether the defendant would more likely than not have received a different verdict with the evidence, but whether in its absence he received a fair trial, understood as a trial resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence. A "reasonable probability" of a different result is accordingly shown when the government's evidentiary suppression "undermines confidence in the outcome of trial" 105 S.Ct. at 3381.

In 1985, the Bagley court stated that favorable evidence is material. Then in 2009, the Cone v. Bell court held that evidence is material when there is a "reasonable probability that the withheld evidence would have altered at least one juror's assessment of the case."

The Cone v. Bell court gave an example of this by citing with approval Banks v. Dretke 510 U.S. 668, 675 (2004) where the prosecution did not disclose that one key witness was a paid government informant and another had been coached by the prosecution. The court held that "our can hardly be confident that defendant received a fair trial given the jury's ignorance of the withheld evidence" *Id.* at 707.

The Kyles court however held that materiality under Bagley is evaluated in a distinct cumulative analysis in which "suppression evidence is considered collectively not item by item" *Id.* 514 U.S. at 436.

In the case at bar, the Solicitor testified that he withheld all the witness statements, photographs, police reports ect. SEE P.C.R transcript, pg. 8 line 10-17.

The Kyles court cited several cases with approval that supports the conclusion that the Solicitors withholding witness statements, police reports ect court violate Brady. SEE Kyles citing BOWEN v. MAYNARD 799 F.2d 593, 613 (CA 10 1986) ("A common trial tactic of a defense lawyer's is to discredit the caliber of the investigation or the decision to charge the defendant and we may consider such use in assessing a possible Brady violation")

THE Kyles court also cited with approval *Lindsey v. King* 709 F.2d 1034 1042 (CA5 1985) (awarding new trial of prisoner convicted in Louisiana state court "because withheld Brady evidence 'carried with it the potential... for the... discrediting... of the police methods employed in assembling the case'")

At the P.C.R. hearing, the Solicitor stated that he would have made disclosure had a request for it been made. See P.C.R. transcript pg. 7 line 1-3. He stated such as if his ~~Brady~~ ~~disclosure~~ was duty to disclose required a request from the defendant but as the Bagley court stated, it didn't.

Because of the Solicitor withholding "all" evidence, I was not able to prepare a defense. I wasn't able to do the following:

1. Prepare a witness questionnaire sheets for each witness because not only did I not know who would be testifying but I also didn't know what the witness allegedly witnessed. I would have known had the Solicitor turned over the witness statements and every report that documented statements made by witness Lloyd, Williams and the victim.

Because of the solicitors refusal to disclose the witness statements, I was unable to question the witnesses. See Trial Transcript pg. 34 line 8-10, pg. 36 lines 14-18, pg. 39 lines 12-14 I had to play everything by eye and ear, and by the time I knew what the state had as evidence, trial was over with. And it wasn't until trial had ended that I was able to form questions that I would have liked to question asked the witnesses.

2. The police reports and photographs not disclosed would have assisted in me questioning the witnesses, had this evidence been given to me along with the withheld witness statements, I would have also have had the opportunity to see if whether I could discredit the police decision to charge me.

At My prison disciplinary hearing, the prison disciplinary officer read several reports verbally about the incident involving the alleged assaults but prison incident reports are not made under oath. And my memory is not that good to have been able to ~~read~~ remember each word of the report to honestly say by the time of trial, I knew exactly what the witnesses were willing to say under oath. I didn't even know if the Solicitor was going to call Lloyd or Williams as witnesses, or not.

The Cone v. Bell Court stated that "The defendant must show that the favorable evidence withheld could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." Id at 435.

This can be seen in my inability to mount any kind of defense. ~~It was~~ This isn't a case where the Solicitor withheld one, two or even three items of evidence, this case involves the withholding of every item of evidence.

In *U.S. v. Armstrong* 517 U.S. 456, 462 (1996) the Court held that "Material to the preparation of the defendants defense" may be limited to discovery of evidence to rebut the governments case-in-chief. The court further stated that "the defendants defense" means the defendants response to the Governments case-in-chief.

Therefore, I was entitled to the witness statements, police reports and photographs and chain of evidence in preparation of my defense because those items would have allowed me to respond to the Governments case-in-chief. And because I wasn't given those items, I wasn't able to respond and that's evident in the trial transcript. ~~see~~ At trial I was unable to question the victim. See Trial transcript pg. 34 line 8-10. I was also unable to cross examine the witnesses adequately. See Trial Transcript ~~pg.~~ pg. 36 line 14-18 and pg. 39 line 12-14 This was noted at the P.C.R. hearing. See P.C.R. Transcript pg. 9 line 4-15. in Appendix-A and Trial Transcript pg's 33-40 in Appendix-B

Question #2: Can a Brady claim be raised on direct appeal if it was not preserved for appellate review by the trial court?

No, a brady claim cannot be raised on direct appeal unless it is preserved by an objection or other motions made to the trial court and actually ruled on. There is nothing on the record that shows the issues I raised were preserved for direct appellate review.

Question #3: Can a Brady, Selective Prosecution and Prosecutorial Misconduct claim not preserved for Appellate review via direct appeal be raised in a P.C.R. application?

Yes, it can. The court in *Gibson v. State* 495 S.E.2d 426, 427 (1998) held that the Uniform Post Conviction Procedure Act is "broadly inclusive and will rarely be

inadequate or unavailable to test the legality of the detention." The court further stated that constitutional violations can even be raised in a P.C.R. proceeding unless the issue could have been raised ~~to~~ on direct appeal.

Since my issues could not properly be raised on direct appeal, because they weren't preserved for review through that forum, the issues are proper in a P.C.R. proceeding.

Now if the court wanted me to commit to the tort of "Abuse of Process" by instituting a direct appeal while knowing the issues were not preserved, then that's a different story. I did what I was supposed to do.

Question #4: Did the state commit the act of Selective Prosecution?

The court held in *U.S. v. Armstrong* 517 U.S. at 464 that to overcome the presumption of regularity that attaches to prosecutorial decisions and to establish a prima facie case of impermissible selective prosecution, a defendant must show "clear evidence" of both "discriminatory effect" and "discriminatory purpose."

In sum the court requires a defendant to produce 1. Clear Evidence, 2. of discriminatory effect and 3. discriminatory purpose.

CLEAR EVIDENCE OF DISCRIMINATORY EFFECT & PURPOSE

THE EVIDENCE: is the statement I submitted to the prosecuting agency before trial. Said statement detailed incidents where the victim had sexually assaulted the defendant on numerous occasions. Also, the statement detailed incidents where the witness, M. Lloyd had been involved in incidents where ~~the~~ I was assault & battered and subjected to cruel and unusual punishment.

THE EFFECT: is that two assaults ~~were~~ allegedly occurred, one ~~in~~ where the victim accused the defendant and the other where the defendant accused the victim. When the victim made his accusations, an official investigation by investigator Greer was started against the defendant. This investigation involved interviews. ~~but~~ But when the defendant made accusation, his statement was ignored. Not only was it ignored, but it was withheld by the state in the discovery process preventing me from showing it to the jury. No one asked me about what happen to me. They were only trying to prosecute me for what the victim accused me of doing to him. Therefore the discriminatory effect was that out of two people, one was given due process and the protection of the law and the other (me) wasn't.

THE PURPOSE: The alleged victim Mr. L. Lorrick submitted his statement first and based on what he said, Inv. L. Greer obtained a arrest warrant and had me served with it. My statement came after the arrest. And it countered everything stated in the warrants affidavit. Had Inv. Greer given me the same protection of the law that he gave Mr. Lorrick, it would mean that he Inv. Greer had a warrant issued based on lies and untrue statements. So the discriminatory purpose was to cover up the possibility ~~so~~ that Inv. Greer obtained a warrant based on lies and the prosecution. Followed, without prosecuting Lorrick, to maintain the states case against ~~the~~ me. Its the same with the prosecutor. If he would have sought a prosecution of Lorrick, it would have looked like his case against me was based on lies. And since the prosecutor and Lorrick were both officers of the state, I was selectively prosecuted and Lorrick not.

Since the state is still refusing to turn over ~~the~~ my statement, the only proof that I have of its existence is a certified mail "Return Receipt" dated 3-16-09 SEE Exhibit - A of Appendix - G. ~~and~~ ~~of~~ S.C.D.C. has on numerous occasions chosen not to criminally prosecute their officers. SEE Appendix - E which is an Affidavit stating events I submitted to authorities but no one has come talk to me about. The affidavit is dated Jan. 6 2015. ~~see Appendix~~

Question #5: Did the Solicitor Commit prosecutorial Misconduct?

YES because under the rules of professional conduct 3.8 the prosecutor in a criminal case is required to make timely disclosure to the defense of all evidence and information known to the prosecutor that tends to negate the guilt of the accused or mitigate the offense. Also rule 3.4(c) states that the solicitor shall not knowingly disobey an obligation under the rules of a tribunal, except for an open refusal based on an assertion that no valid obligation exist.

U.S. v. Bagley's holding that the solicitor was obligated to disclose regardless of request was a clearly establish law at the time of the non-disclosure so Mr. cannot claim ignorance of the law.

CONCLUSION

Therefore, the ruling of the P.C.R. court must be overturned.

McCormick S.C.
Feb. 17, 2015

LEGAL MAIL

151 ~~W. B. A.~~
Mr. Unula B. Abebe #285447
MCC/SMU # A-101
386 Redemption Way
McCormick S.C. 29899

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM LEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
GEORGE C. JAMES JR. Circuit Court Judge

CASE NO: 2010-CP-31-0052
Appeal no: 2014-001349

Mr. Unula Boo-Shawn Abebe #285447. Petitioner

RECEIVED

MAR 31 2015

VS.

S.C. Supreme Court

State of South Carolina Respondent