STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Lee County  
Court of Common Pleas  
George C. James, Jr, Circuit Court Judge

---

2010-CP-31-0052  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001349

---

**RECEIVED**

JUN - 1 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

UNULA ABEBE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DANIEL GOURLEY  
Assistant Attorney General  
Bar No. 100934

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- I. Whether any probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that the solicitor did not commit a Brady violation by failing to turn over any favorable evidence?
- II. Can a Brady claim be raised on direct appeal if it was not preserved for appellate review by the trial court?
- III. Can a Brady, selective prosecution and prosecutorial misconduct claim, not preserved for appellate review via direct appeal be raised in a P.C.R. application?
- IV. Did the State commit the act of selective prosecution?
- V. Did the Solicitor commit prosecutorial misconduct?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Applicant is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Lee County Clerk of Court. The Applicant was indicted at the March 2009 term of the Lee County Grand Jury for Assaulting a Correctional Officer (2009-GS-31-0023). Applicant proceeded *pro-se* at trial. Following a jury trial before the Honorable Howard P. King, Applicant was found guilty. Judge King sentenced Applicant to two years imprisonment, to be served consecutively to the sentence being served. The Applicant did not appeal his guilty plea or sentence.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on March 4, 2010. Respondent filed a Return February 25, 2011. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened at the Sumter County Courthouse on February 25, 2014, before the Honorable George C. James, Jr. Petitioner was present at the hearing and proceeded *pro-se*. Judge James dismissed Petitioner's post-conviction relief application by Order on April 15, 2014. Petitioner filed a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend judgment on or about March 10, 2014. Judge James denied Petitioner's motion on May 16, 2014. Petitioner filed his Petition for Certiorari on or about March 31, 2015.

This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “‘any evidence’ of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief court’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989).

In a post-conviction relief action, the petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where an application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether Petitioner’s attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, at 668. The petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624.

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. First, the petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, *citing* Strickland. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Whether any probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that the solicitor did not commit a Brady violation by failing to turn over any favorable evidence?**

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding the Solicitor failed to turn over various documents pursuant to Brady. However, this allegation is meritless as ample probative evidence supports the PCR courts finding that the Solicitor did not commit a Brady violation.

The PCR court found it was clear that no Rule 5 motion was ever made by Applicant. As a result the State had no duty to respond to a nonexistent motion. The PCR Court further found "that the State must turn over exculpatory evidence even without a written Brady motion." The Court found that the Solicitor credibly testified that there was no exculpatory information to turn over to Petitioner.

An individual asserting a Brady violation must demonstrate that evidence: (1) favorable to the accused; (2) in the possession of or known by the prosecution; (3) was suppressed by the State; and (4) was material to the accused's guilt or innocence or was impeaching. Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 115 S.Ct. 1555, 131 L.Ed.2d 490 (1995). A Brady violation does not warrant reversal if the evidence is merely cumulative or impeaching. Clark v. State, 315 S.C. 385, 434 S.E.2d 266 (1993). "Impeachment or exculpatory evidence is material only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id., 434 S.E.2d at 268.

In the instant case, the Solicitor credibly testified that he had no exculpatory information. (p 14). Furthermore, Applicant failed to present any evidence in support of his arguments. See Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 481 S.E.2d 129 (1997) (holding applicant not entitled to relief where no evidence presented at PCR hearing to show how additional preparation would have had

any possible effect on the result at trial); See Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 513, 511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999) (holding that, since the contents of challenged documents were not presented at the PCR hearing, the Applicant could not demonstrate how the failure of counsel to obtain these documents prejudiced the defense).

**II. Can a Brady claim be raised on direct appeal if it was not preserved for appellate review by the trial court?**

Petitioner argues that “a Brady claim cannot be raised on direct appeal if it is preserved by an objection or other motions made to the trial court and actually ruled on.” Petitioner further argues “there is nothing on the record that shows the issues I raised were preserved for direct appellate review.” However, Petitioner failed to raise any claim that his Brady motion could not be raised on direct appeal in his post-conviction relief application, at his evidentiary hearing, or in a Rule 59(e) motion. “To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court. If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal.” State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). It is clear from the record that this issue was never even discussed at the PCR evidentiary hearing let alone ruled upon by the PCR court.

**III. Can a Brady, selective prosecution and prosecutorial misconduct claim, not preserved for appellate review via direct appeal be raised in a P.C.R. application?**

Petitioner argues that since his “issues were not properly be raised on direct appeal, because they were not preserved for review through that forum. The issues are proper in a PCR.” However, Post-conviction relief is not a substitute for an appeal. Simmons v. State, 264 S.C. 417, 423, 215 S.E.2d 883, 885 (1974); Ashley v. State, 260 S.C. 436, 196 S.E.2d 501 (1973)

(A post-conviction relief application cannot assert any issues that could have been raised at trial or on direct appeal). If these issues were not properly preserved for direct appeal, it is because Petitioner failed to make the timely objections necessary to preserve them. See *State v. Thomas*, 331 N.C. 671, 677, 417 S.E.2d 473, 477 (1992) (“If a defendant chooses to proceed pro se, he cannot on appeal claim ineffective assistance of counsel”).

#### **IV. Did the State commit selective prosecution?**

Petitioner argues the State committed selective prosecution by failing to prosecute the victim in Petitioner’s case. However, this issue is not proper in a PCR. Post-conviction relief is not a substitute for an appeal. *Simmons v. State*, 264 S.C. 417, 423, 215 S.E.2d 883, 885 (1974); *Ashley v. State*, 260 S.C. 436, 196 S.E.2d 501 (1973) (A post-conviction relief application cannot assert any issues that could have been raised at trial or on direct appeal). This issue could have been raised at trial or in a direct appeal.

To the extent that this issue is proper for PCR, Applicant failed to present any documents or evidence to support his claim. See *Skeen v. State*, 325 S.C. 210, 481 S.E.2d 129 (1997) (holding applicant not entitled to relief where no evidence presented at PCR hearing to show how additional preparation would have had any possible effect on the result at trial); See *Palacio v. State*, 333 S.C. 506, 513, 511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999) (holding that, since the contents of challenged documents were not presented at the PCR hearing, the Applicant could not demonstrate how the failure of counsel to obtain these documents prejudiced the defense).

#### **V. Did the Solicitor commit prosecutorial misconduct?**

Petitioner argues that the solicitor committed prosecutorial misconduct by failing to turn over various documents. However, Petitioner failed to raise any claim of prosecutorial misconduct in his post-conviction relief application, at his evidentiary hearing, or in a Rule 59(e)

motion. “To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court. If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal.” State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). It is clear from the record that this issue was never even discussed at the PCR evidentiary

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State submits that the Petition should be denied. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.